STAND STRUCTURE AND CARBON STORAGE IN THE NILO NATURE RESERVE, EAST USAMBARA, TANZANIA

BY

EMMANUEL JAPHET

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN FORESTRY OF SOKOINE UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURE. MOROGORO, TANZANIA.

ABSTRACT

Understanding forest stand structure is necessary for predicting losses and storage of carbon in forests. However, there is scanty knowledge on relationship between stand structure and carbon storage. This study assessed stand structure and its relationship with carbon storage in Nilo Nature Reserve. The specific objectives were to determine the forest stand structure, above ground and soil carbon stock and their relationship. The forest was stratified into four elevation bands. Four marked permanent sample plots of size 0.4 ha with 80 subplots of size 20×10 m one in each elevation band was established. In each plot, the following information was collected: tree diameter at breast height, wood cores, and soil samples. The data was used to determine species richness, stem density, basal area, volume and carbon stock. ANOVA was used to test variation in stand structure and carbon stock with elevation bands while regression analysis was used to determine their relationships. A total of 77 species of trees and shrubs belonging to 29 families were identified. Shannon index was 3.60 indicating high plant species diversity. The stand density, average diameter, basal area and volume were 299 \pm 26 stems ha⁻¹, 26.07 \pm 2.88 cm, $38.08 \pm 3.61 \text{ m}^2\text{ha}^{-1}$ and $488.35 \pm 56.32 \text{ m}^3\text{ha}^{-1}$ respectively. Above ground and soils carbon stocks were 291 \pm 32.81 and 247.13 \pm 73.38 t ha⁻¹ respectively. There was significant correlation (P = 001) between carbon stocks and tree diameter, basal area and volume. Average diameter, basal area, volume and above ground carbon stock were significantly higher at high elevation than mid-high elevation band. It is concluded that stand structure correlated with carbon stocks and NNR has high potential for carbon storage in above ground biomass and soils. The stand structure parameters can be used adequately for prediction of carbon stock in similar forests.

DECLARATION

I, Emmanuel Japhet, do hereby declare to the Senate of Sokoine University of Agriculture, that this dissertation is my original work and that it has neither been submitted nor being concurrently submitted for degree award in any other institution.

Emmanuel Japhet

MSc. Candidate

The above declaration is confirmed

Prof. P.K.T Munishi

(1) Supervisor

Dr. E.F. Nzunda

(2) Supervisor

Date

Date

Date

COPYRIGHT

No part of this dissertation may be reproduced, stored in any retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means without prior written permission of the author or Sokoine University of Agriculture in that behalf.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation is the outcome of financial support, advice, help, suggestions and information from different people and institutions. Financial support offered in form of a scholarship by the Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism during the whole period of the study is highly appreciated.

I am grateful to my supervisors Professor P. K. T Munishi and Dr. E. F. Nzunda of the Departments of Forest Biology and Forest Mensuration and Management respectively at the Sokoine University of Agriculture for their effective supervision and professional guidance during proposal development, data collection and analyses as well as dissertation write up.

Thanks also go to the Management of Tanzania Forestry Research Institute (TAFORI) for offering me study leave and permission to pursue my MSc. studies at Sokoine University of Agriculture.

Distinctive thanks go to Ms. Mwanaidi Kijazi, Conservator of Nilo Nature Reserve for transport assistance and logistic support during field data collection. Special thanks also go to Mr. Iddi Rajabu for his tremendous support during data collection.

Lastly, I would like to convey my sincere gratitude to my wife Glory Fortunatus and all my friends whose inspiration and heartfelt encouragement have contributed to my study success. God bless you all.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my parents, my father the late Japhet Mwainunu and my mother Ester Abraham, who built a strong foundation for my education.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EMMANUEL JAPHETi ABSTRACTiii
DECLARATIONiv
COPYRIGHTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
DEDICATIONvii
TABLE OF CONTENTSviii
LIST OF TABLESxiii
LIST OF FIGURESxiv
LIST OF APPENDICESxvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxvii
CHAPTER ONE1
1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background Information1
1.2 Problem Statement and Study Justification4
1.3 Objectives5
1.3.1 Overall objective5
1.3.2 Specific objectives5
1.4 Research Questions
CHAPTER TWO7
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Overview of Carbon Storage in Natural Forests
2.2 Stand Structure of Natural Forests and Carbon Storage7
2.2.1 Species composition7
2.2.2 Tree species diversity8

2.2.3 Tree size distribution	9
2.2.4 Stem density	9
2.2.5 Basal area	10
2.2.6 Volume	10

2.3 Biomass and Carbon Stock	 L

Biomass refers to the total amount of living matter present at a given moment in a biological system (Luhende, 2003). Tree biomass is a key variable in the annual and long term changes in the global terrestrial carbon cycle as wood biomass is involved in the regulation of atmospheric carbon concentrations (Terakunpisut et al., 2007). Therefore, maintenance and enhancement of natural carbon stocks in land vegetation is considered a key climate change mitigation measure (Miles et al., 2009). Carbon storage in vegetation varies from one forest reserve to another due to a number of factors including variation of stand characteristics. Due to variation of forest stand characteristics, forest reserves have different carbon storage potentials. Previous study showed that carbon stock in tree biomass including roots ranged between 126 and 640 tha-1 while organic carbon ranged between 237 and 520 tha-1 (Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Terakunpisut et al., 2007; Mackey et al., 2008; Miles 2.5 Variation of Stand Structure and Carbon Stock across Elevation Bands12 3.1.2 Climate, soil and topography......13 3.1.3 Vegetation14

3.1.4 Communities adjacent to Nilo Nature Reserve	14	
3.2 Data Collection Methods1		
3.2.1 Sampling design	17	
3.2.2 Determination of stand structure and carbon	18	
3.2.3 Determination of above ground carbon stock	19	
3.2.4 Determination of soil carbon stock	19	
3.3 Data Analysis	19	
3.3.1 Tress species composition	20	

Identified individual tree species were arranged alphabetically in spreadsheet and thereafter the list and number of species in the forest were obtained. The dominant tree species was determined on the basis of their Important Value Index (IVI). This is because IVI gives a combined standard measure of abundance, density and dispersion for each species (Kent and Coker, 1992). The higher the IVI the more ecologically dominant and important the tree species in a given plant community (Shrestha et al., 2000; Reddy et al., 2008). The IVI for each individual tree species was determined using the formula (Mueller-Dombois and Ellenberg, 1974; Munishi et al., 2007; Nzunda, 2008)
3.3.3 Diameter class distribution21
3.3.4 Stem density21
3.3.5 Basal area22
3.3.5 Volume22
3.3.6 Wood density and above ground carbon stock23
3.3.7 Soil carbon stock23
3.3.8 Variation of stand structure parameters between elevation and their relationship
with carbon stock23
CHAPTER FOUR25
4.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION25
4.1 Stand Structure25
4.1.1 Tree species composition25

4.1.2 Tree species diversity25
4.1.3 Stem density26
4.1.4 Diameter size class distribution27
4.1.5 Basal area28
4.1.6 Volume
4.2 Above Ground and Soil Carbon Stock
4.2.1 Above Ground Carbon Stock29
4.2.2 Soil Carbon Stock30
4.3 Relationship between Stand Structure and Carbon Storage
4.4 Stand Structure Parameters and Carbon Storage across Elevation in Nilo Nature
Reserve
4.4.1 Change of stand structure with elevation
4.4.2 Change in above ground carbon stock across elevation
Table 2: Stand parameters and carbon stock across elevation bands in Nilo Nature
Reserve
4.4.3 Change in soil carbon stock with elevation
CHAPTER FIVE40
5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS40
5.1 Conclusions40
5.2 Recommendations41
REFERENCES42
APPENDICES



LIST OF TABLES

able 1: The most dominant tree species based on species IVI in the Nilo Nature Reserv	ve
	.25
able 2: Stand parameters and carbon stock across elevation bands in Nilo Nature	
eserve	.37

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Map of Nilo Nature Reserve16
Figure 2: Plot layout in the Nilo Nature Reserve
Figure 3: Tree remnants from illegal timber and firewood cut as observed in Nilo Nature
Reserve
Figure 4: Stem density across DBH size classes distribution in Nilo Nature Reserve28
Figure 5: Distribution of basal area by DBH size classes in the Nilo Nature Reserve29
Figure 6: Distribution of volume by DBH size classes in the Nilo Nature Reserve29
Figure 7: Relationship between species composition and carbon stock in Nilo Nature
Reserve
Figure 8: Relationship between species diversity and carbon stock in Nilo Nature
Reserve
Figure 9: Relationship between average DBH and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve.
Figure 10: Relationship between stem density and carbon stock in the Nilo Nature
Reserve
Figure 11: Relationship between basal area and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve33
Figure 12: Relationship between volume and carbon stock in the Nilo Nature Reserve.
Figure 13: DBH size class distribution at mid-high elevation band (992 – 1228 m asl) in
Nilo Nature Reserve
Figure 14: DBH size class distribution at high elevation band (1228 – 1504 m asl) in Nilo
Nature Reserve
Figure 15: Distribution of carbon stock in trees by DBH size classes in the Nilo Nature
Reserve



LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Sketch diagram of Sapling design in the Nilo Nature Reserve
Appendix 2: Importance Value Index and carbon storage for each tree species in Nilo
Nature Reserve
Appendix 3: Dominant tree density in various blocks in the natural forests61
Appendix 4: Average diameter, species diversity, stem density, basal area, and volume
and carbon stock per plot in Nilo Nature Reserve63
Appendix 5: Multiple comparisons for average diameter between elevation bands in Nilo
Nature Reserve
Appendix 6: Multiple comparisons for basal area between elevation bands in Nilo Nature
Reserve
Appendix 7: Multiple comparisons for volume between elevation bands in Nilo Nature
Reserve67
Appendix 8: Multiple comparisons for carbon stock between elevation bands in Nilo
Nature Reserve
Appendix 9: Tree species and their families found in Nilo Nature Reserve70

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AFIMP	-	Amani Forest Inventory and Management Plan
CO_2	-	Carbon dioxide
CoP	-	Conferences of Parties
DBH	-	Diameter at Breast Height
FAO	-	Food and Agriculture Organization (of the United Nations)
Gt	-	Gigatonnes (equals one billion or 1.0×10^9 tonnes).
IPCC	-	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
HE	-	High elevation
LSD	-	Least Significance Difference
LE	-	Low elevation
m asl	-	Metre above sea level
MHE	-	Mid-high elevation
MLE	-	Mid-low elevation
MNRT	-	Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism, Tanzania
MSc	-	Master of Science
NFP	-	National Forest Programme
Mt	-	Megatonne (equals one million or $1.0 imes 10^6$ tonnes
NNR	-	Nilo Nature Reserve
REDD	-	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation
SOC	-	Soil Organic Carbon
SPSS	-	Statistical Package for Social Sciences
SUA	-	Sokoine University of Agriculture
TAFORI	-	Tanzania Forest Research Institute
UNFCCC	-	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
URT	-	United Republic of Tanzania

CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background Information

Climate change is caused by an increase in atmospheric temperatures due to upsurge in concentration of greenhouse gases (GHGS) (Ngeleja, 2008). Greenhouse gases refer to gases that absorb and emit infra-red radiation in atmosphere, warming the earth's surface and the lower part of the atmosphere (Reay and Hogen, 2010). Carbon dioxide (CO₂) is the most predominant of all the greenhouse gases accounting for nearly half of the atmospheric warming (Mwandosya, 1999). Other greenhouse gases include methane, nitrous oxide, water vapour, ozone and chlorofluorocarbons (Mwandosya, 1999; Ngeleja, 2008).

Carbon is accumulating in the atmosphere at a rate of 3.5 Pg ($1Pg = 10^{15}$ g or one billion tons) per annum (Mackey *et al.*, 2008). Fossil fuel use and land-use change contribute to the rise in global carbon concentration in the atmosphere resulting in raising concentrations of CO₂ (Shah, 2009). About 20 percent of carbon dioxide emitted to the atmosphere results from loss of tropical forests through deforestation and forest degradation (IPCC, 2007; Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Jorgensen and Milledge, 2009).

Increase in CO₂ concentration in the atmosphere will subsequently change the earth's temperature and weather system (Brown, 1997; Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Yanda, 2008). Mackey *et al.* (2008) stressed that due to atmospheric rise in CO₂ concentration, the mean global temperature will increase by between 1.4 and 5.8°C over the coming century causing changes in rainfall distribution, extreme weather events and sea-level rise. Recently, adverse impacts of climate change on the environment, human

health, food security, human settlements, economic activities, natural resources and physical infrastructure are apparent in many countries, including Tanzania.

With this increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide and its implication on global climate change, the role of forests management has received attention as a means of mitigating carbon emissions and climate change (Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Munishi *et al.*, 2008). This is because forests remove CO₂ from the atmosphere through photosynthesis and store in its biomass and soils (Gurney and Raymond, 2008). The total carbon stored in the natural forest ecosystem globally is 638 Gt with 283 Gt of carbon in its biomass, 38 Gt in dead wood and 317 Gt in soils (top 30 cm) and litter (FAO, 2006; Yanda, 2008). It is because of this, that the contribution of forests to carbon storage was acknowledged at Earth Summit on Environment and Development held in Rio de Janeiro in 1992. At the Summit, sustainable management and conservation of all types of forests were emphasized in order to combat desertification, land degradation and deforestation and to reduce emissions from land use and land-use change activities.

Despite the fact that, large percentage (20%) of carbon emission results from loss of tropical forests, protection of existing natural forests and woodlands was excluded in the Kyoto Protocol (Grace *et al.*, 2006). The Kyoto Protocol of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) is the first step by the world's nations to limit the emissions of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in order to reduce global warming. The Protocol came into force in February 2005 and adopted by the UNFCCC in 2007 (Grace *et al.*, 2006; Lawuo, 2008). The protocol is based on the fact that, atmospheric greenhouse gases have global effects regardless of where they are released. For this reason, the Kyoto protocol include several 'flexible mechanisms' permitting industrialized nations to reduce global GHG emissions by investing in emission

reduction activities in other countries (Ladue, 2008). One of these flexible mechanisms was the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) which serves the first commitment period (2008- 2012) and was limited to afforestation and reforestation projects (Lawuo, 2008; Zahabu *et al.*, 2008).

Though protection of existing natural forests and woodlands was excluded in the Kyoto Protocol, international negotiations focusing on reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation (REDD) started at eleventh Conference of Parties (CoP 11) in Montreal, Canada in 1995. This was continued at CoP 12, in Nairobi in 2006, CoP, 13 in Bali in 2007, CoP 14 in Bozma, Poland in 2008 and CoP 15 in Copenhagen 2009. The decision at UNFCCC CoP 13 in Bali expressly focused on REDD post 2012. The decision for re-negotiation of the climate change policy for the post 2012 to include REDD policy has been prompted by the evidence of the contribution of natural forests to global carbon emission and carbon storage (Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Lawuo, 2008). This came after studies supported that natural forests also sequester carbon and have a long term storage capacity compared to plantation forests (Lawuo, 2008).

Natural forests are defined as forests that have not been disturbed by intensive human land-use activities including commercial logging (Mackey *et al.*, 2008). The forests are characterized by high heterogeneity in their stand structure (Merino *et al.*, 2007). Stand structure refers to parameters such as tree species composition, diversity, diameter size class distribution, basal area, volume, stem density, forms and canopy layers of the forests (Adam and Ek, 1974; Husch *et al.*, 1982; Valkonen 2007; Isango 2007; Mbwambo *et al.*, 2008). Stand structure is the result of the species' growth habitats, environmental conditions and management practices under which the stand originated and developed (Husch *et al.*, 1982). Understanding forest structure is necessary for predicting potential

losses and storage of carbon (Merino *et al.*, 2007). This is because altering forest structure may affect carbon stored in biomass and soil causing emission to the atmosphere (*ibid*).

Tanzania has about 34 million hectares of natural forest (MNRT, 2001, Zahabu, 2008). Categories of the natural forests in Tanzania, which fall under different managements, include, forest on public lands (54 percent), Government Forest Reserves (37 percent), and private and community forests (9 percent) (MNRT, 2001). However, alarming rate of deforestation and degradation of natural forests in the country is a threat to the existence of these forests. It is estimated that deforestation in the country ranges from 130 000 to 500 000 ha per annum (MNRT, 1998; FAO, 2006; Miles *et al.*, 2009). Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD) initiative has, therefore, been pointed out as a solution to deforestation and forest degradation as a well as carbon emission (Yanda, 2008).

1.2 Problem Statement and Study Justification

Reducing atmospheric carbon emission and concentration through forest management has recently become an important issue in many countries including Tanzania. This is due to the fact that living trees and soils in natural and semi-natural forests constitute major long-term stocks of organic carbon (Merino *et al.*, 2007).

The ability of forests to store large amounts of carbon depends heavily on the tree species growing in them and their stand structure (Munishi, 2001; Shanahan, 2005). Structural attributes of forest stand are important in understanding and managing forests ecosystems because they have direct value as a product or in providing a service (in storage of carbon) (Franklin *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, understanding the relationship between stand structure and carbon storage is essential.

Few studies have estimated carbon storage in natural forests of the Eastern Arc Mountains (Munishi 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004). Furthermore, most of these studies focused on assessment of carbon storage potential, sequestration and carbon monitoring by local communities (Munishi 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Zahabu 2008). However, none of these studies has assessed the relationship between stand structure and carbon storage. Moreover, limited information (if any) is available on variations between stand structure and carbon stock across elevation in the Eastern Arc Mountain. Therefore, this study aims at filling these knowledge gaps. The results of this study will be useful to forest managers, scientists, planners and policy makers in understanding potentials of natural forest ecosystem in storage of carbon. The results will equally be critical in understanding not only how stand structure parameters relate to carbon storage potential of the forests but also variation of stand structure and carbon stock across elevation. Information from this study will obviously form the basis for proper planning of forest management for reducing deforestation and forest degradation which contribute to alteration of stand structure and carbon dioxide emission to the atmosphere. In addition this study will add value to national and global strategies (REDD, REDD+) geared towards reducing emission and mitigation of climate change.

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 Overall objective

The overall objective of the study was to assess stand structure and its relationship to carbon storage in Nilo Nature Reserve, East Usambara, Tanzania.

1.3.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives were to:

i. Determine the stand structure in Nilo Nature Reserve.

- ii. Determine the above ground and soil carbon stock in the Nilo Nature Reserve.
- iii. Determine the relationship between stand structure and carbon stock in the Nilo Nature Reserve.

1.4 Research Questions

- What is the stand structure (tree species composition, tree species diversity, diameter size class distribution, stem density, basal area and volume) in the Nilo Nature Reserve?
- 2. How much are the above ground and soil carbon storage in the Nature Reserve?
- 3. What is the existing relationship between stand structure and carbon storage in the Nature Reserve?

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Overview of Carbon Storage in Natural Forests

Natural forests play a significant role in the global carbon cycle (Mackey *et al.*, 2008). These forests are important not only in terms of total net carbon emissions but also in global storage capacity, important for climatic regulation (Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). This is due to the fact that vegetation biomass and soils store approximately three times the amount of carbon that is currently found in the atmosphere. Moreover, the annual exchange of carbon between the atmosphere and natural forests is 10 times more than the annual global carbon emissions from burning fossil fuels (Mackey *et al.*, 2008).

The amounts of carbon stored globally differ widely among forest biomes (Lorenz and Lal, 2010). Forest biome includes areas that are dominated by trees and other woody vegetation (Klappenbach, 2011). The major forest biomes are the boreal, temperate and tropical forest biomes (Lorenz and Lal, 2010). Forest carbon stocks vary between forest biome due to difference bioclimatic gradients (temperature, precipitation and geologic substrate) slope, elevation, drainage class, soil type and land-use history (Gibbs *et al.*, 2007). Estimates show that tropical forests store largest quantities of carbon in vegetation and soil (Baishya *et al.*, 2009; Lorenz and Lal, 2010). These forests account for 37% of the total 90% of the world's terrestrial carbon that is stored in forests (Baishya *et al.*, 2009).

2.2 Stand Structure of Natural Forests and Carbon Storage

2.2.1 Species composition

Composition is expressed as the assemblage of plant species that characterize the vegetation (Martin, 1996). Vegetation composition refers to the relative amounts of a

particular species as a percentage of the total number of species in a community (Munishi, 2001). Species composition can change over time due to variations in moisture levels associated with unpredictable disturbance and environmental contrast (Munishi *et al.*, 2007). Understanding species composition is important as it helps to determine forest condition and trend which are valuable tools of judging the impact of previous management and guide future decisions as well as carbon storage (Billheimer *et al.*, 2001; Chen, 2006; Mbwambo *et al.*, 2008). This is because plant species composition is an important driver of carbon accumulation in forest ecosystems. Composition on the other hand influences above-ground carbon storage and total carbon storage (Jonson, and Wardle, 2009).

2.2.2 Tree species diversity

Species diversity refers to the number of different species in a particular area (Arrison *et al.*, 2007). Tree species diversity in tropical forest varies greatly from place to place mainly due to variation in biogeography, habitat and disturbance (Huang *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, harvesting and other disturbances in the forests change the relative composition of tree species and strongly influence species diversity (Elliott and Hewirr, 1997). The diversity of trees is fundamental, simply because trees provide resources and habitats for almost all other forest species and play a role in carbon storage of forests (Huang *et al.*, 2002). Increasing plant species diversity contributes to greater ecosystem carbon sequestration as well as total storage. Furthermore diversity of species increases the likelihood that in the face of climate change, some species will be capable of adapting to those changes (Shanahan, 2005; Jonson and Wardle, 2009).

2.2.3 Tree size distribution

Trees size distribution contributes to the structural pattern characteristic of forests (Huang *et al.*, 2002; Franklin *et al.*, 2002). Carbon storage of trees correlates with DBH size class (Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). Large trees have large capacity for carbon storage whereas small trees especially the young ones have low carbon storage capacity, though they have high rate of carbon sequestration (Franklin *et al.*, 2002). In tropical rain forest and dry evergreen forest, the main tree size classes that had a great potential in carbon sequestering from small up to medium tree size at 4.5–20 up to >40–60 cm (Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). However, it has been noted that, old trees that highly contribute to carbon storage are less abundant compared to young trees. In a study on examining the abundance, growth and mortality of very large trees (>70 cm diameter above buttresses) at La Selva Costa Rica, it was found that very large trees are a minor fraction (2%) of the stems, but contain a significant fraction of the above-ground biomass (27%) (Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). In other study, Huang *et al.* (2002) found that the diameter size class distribution of trees is very variable and some forests have large numbers of trees of 40–60 cm dbh and highly contribute in carbon storage.

2.2.4 Stem density

Stem density usually defines the stocking of the stand and it indicates the degree of rowdiness of stems in a given area (Husch *et al.*, 1982; Njana, 2008). Stem density varies widely between forest reserves and forest types. Studies of montane rain forest in Tanzania showed that average stocking level range from 650 to 1161 stems per hectare for East Usambara (Munishi 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Kajembe *et al.*, 2004; Luoga *et al.*, 2005; Kajembe *et al.*, 2008). In Miombo woodlands stems per hectare range between 618 and 980 (Zahabu 2001; Malimbwi and Mugasha, 2002; Mohamed, 2006; Kajembe *et al.*, 2008). Factors controlling tree density in forests included natural and anthropogenic

disturbance, soil conditions and elevation (Huang *et al.*, **2002**; Kumar *et al.*, 2006). Tree density is normally significantly higher in high elevations in tropical forests than in low (Kumar *et al.*, 2006).

2.2.5 Basal area

Stand basal area is the total basal area of all trees or of specified classes of trees per hectare (Hush *et al.*, 1982; Philip and Gentry, 1993; Njana, 2008). Basal area in plantation forest is useful parameter in comparing stocking of two stands of the same species, age and height while in natural forest, is a good measure of site potential (Philip, 1983). Various reports show that basal area per ha is not constant but vary between and within forest types as well as forest reserves. Basal area in montane forests may range between 30 and 51m²ha⁻¹ (Wass, 1995; Malimbwi and Mgeni, 1991; Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Kajembe *et al.*, 2004; Kajembe *at al.*, 2009). In most miombo woodlands, the basal area ranged between 7 and 120 m² per hectare (Lowore *et al.*, 1994; Nduwamungu and Malimbwi, 1997; Zahabu, 2001; Mafupa, 2006; Mohamed, 2006; Njana, 2008). With respect to carbon storage in the forest, basal is important in understanding the carbon stock in the forests. This is because increases of basal area lead to increase in carbon storage of the forest and vice-versa (Bunker *et al.*, 2005).

2.2.6 Volume

Tree volume is linearly related to basal area (Lowore *et al.*, 1994). Various reports show that volumes per ha are not constant but vary between and within forest types. Volume in montane forests range between 67 and 560 m³ha⁻¹ (Kajembe *et al.*, 2004; Kajembe *at al.*, 2009). In most miombo woodlands, standing volume ranged between 11 and 88 m³ha⁻¹ Nduwamungu, and Malimbwi, 1997; Zahabu, 2001; Luoga *et al.*, 2005; Mafupa, 2006). With respect to carbon storage in the forest, volumes are important in understanding the

carbon stock in the forests. This is because increase in volume leads to increase in carbon storage of the forest and vice-versa (Bunker *et al.*, 2005).

2.3 Biomass and Carbon Stock

Biomass refers to the total amount of living matter present at a given moment in a biological system (Luhende, 2003). Tree biomass is a key variable in the annual and long term changes in the global terrestrial carbon cycle as wood biomass is involved in the regulation of atmospheric carbon concentrations (Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, maintenance and enhancement of natural carbon stocks in land vegetation is considered a key climate change mitigation measure (Miles *et al.*, 2009). Carbon storage in vegetation varies from one forest reserve to another due to a number of factors including variation of stand characteristics. Due to variation of forest stand characteristics, forest reserves have different carbon storage potentials. Previous study showed that carbon stock in tree biomass including roots ranged between 126 and 640 tha⁻¹ while organic carbon ranged between 237 and 520 tha⁻¹ (Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007; Mackey *et al.*, 2008; Miles *et al.*, 2009).

2.4 Carbon Storage in Soils

Soil represents the largest carbon reservoir in terrestrial ecosystems (Schimel, 1995). It is estimated that the soil contains two times that of the atmosphere and 2.3 times that of the total terrestrial vegetation (Yang *et al.*, 2006) Hence, even relatively small changes in soil carbon storage per unit area could have a significant impact on the global carbon balance (Rice, 2010). In natural forest reserves, carbon content in the soil varied between 280 tha⁻¹ and 418 tha⁻¹ (Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004; Mackey *et al.*, 2008 The variation of carbon stock in soils between forest reserves might be attributed to tree species

composition, richness and anthropogenic disturbance. Trees influence soil properties in diverse ways, as tree litter, root decay and continuous sloughing-off, as well as decomposition of dead trees are a major source of soil organic matter (Nair, 1984; Ngegba, 1998), which contribute to organic carbon in the soil. On the other hand, anthropogenic disturbance reduces vegetation cover and exposes soil organic carbon to temperature that may lead to an increase in carbon emission and hence reducing carbon stock in soils (Brown, 2010; Yang *et al.*, 2010)

2.5 Variation of Stand Structure and Carbon Stock across Elevation Bands

Elevation is the vertical distance measured from a point to a reference surface while elevation bands are subunits within the elevation (Horning *et al.*, 2010). Elevation plays a key role in stand structure and carbon storage in soils. A numbers of scholars have pointed out elevation as a key factor in tree density and distribution in the forests (Elliott and Hewirr, 1997; Munishi, 2001; Huang *et al.*, 2002; Kumar *et al.*, 2006). For instance, Kumar *et al.* (2006) reported that tree density and basal area were significantly greater in higher elevation bands in tropical forests of Garo hills (Kumar *et al.*, 2006). On the other hand it has bee reported that high elevation bands forest soils store relatively large quantities of organic carbon than lower elevation bands in Eastern Arc Mountain, Austria and Spain (Munishi, 2001; Karhu *et al.*, 2010). This is attributed by low organic matter decomposition rate experienced in high elevation bands because of low temperature contributing to accumulation of organic matter forming soil organic carbon (Munishi, 2001; Karhu *et al.*, 2010).

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Study Area Description

3.1.1 Location

The study was conducted in the Nilo Nature Reserve which covers an area of 6025 ha. The nature reserve is made up of three forest reserves namely Ludindi, Kilanga and Nkombola forest reserves. The Nature reserve is situated between latitudes 04° 50' - 59' S and longitudes 038°37'- 41' E at an elevation of 400 - 1506 Metres above sea level (m *asl*). It is in the North West of the East Usambara Mountain. It falls under jurisdiction of three districts namely Korogwe, Muheza and Mkinga in Tanga Region. The East Usambara Mountains form part of a chain of Mountain known as the 'Eastern Arc', which stretch from Southern Kenya to Southern Tanzania (Frontier Tanzania, 2002).

3.1.2 Climate, soil and topography

The climate of East Usambara is monsoon (Edward, 2007). The rainfall distribution pattern is bi-modal, peaking between March and May and between September and December. Rainfall is higher at higher altitudes and in the southeast of the mountains, increasing from 1200 mm in foothills to over 2200 mm annually (Hamilton and Bensted-Smith, 1989; Frontier Tanzania, 2002). Average monthly temperature is 20°C which varies considerably during the year with a difference of 5°C between the hottest and the coldest month, that is, March and July, respectively (Lema, 2000; Richard, 2007).

Soils of East Usambara originated from biotite-hornblende-garnet gneiss rock with much quartz and mainly belonging to the Precambrian Usagaran system (Edward, 2007). The

soils are deep, reddish clay-loams, with nutrient concentrated in topsoil less than 20 cm deep (Rechard, 2007). The upper altitude soils are highly acidic (pH 4 — 5) while lowland soil tend to be more neutral (pH 6.5 - 7) (Hamilton, 1989; 1998; Edward, 2007). Topography of Nilo Nature Reserve is undulating ridge system with steep sided slopes. The nature reserve forms two main peak areas namely Nilo peak at an elevation of 1506 m *asl* and Lutindi with a height of 1400 m *asl* (Frontier Tanzania, 2002).

3.1.3 Vegetation

The main types of vegetation in East Usambaras are the lowland rain forests and submontane rain forest which occur below and above 880 m *asl* respectively (Hamilton, 1998; Richard, 2007). The East Usambara Mountains support ancient and unique forests, rich in endemic species (Hamilton, 1989). It is estimated that approximately 45 137 ha of the East Usambara Mountains remain as natural forest which is divided into two types: submontane rain forest and lowland forest. In Nilo Nature reserve, large part contains endemic, near endemic and threatened species. The indigenous tree species are *Cynometra brachyrrahchis*, *Couratari longipedicellata*, *Placodiscus amanuenses*, *Uvariodendron oligocarpum* and Uvariodendron *pycnophyllum* (Frontier Tanzania, 2002).

3.1.4 Communities adjacent to Nilo Nature Reserve

The Nilo Nature Reserve is surrounded by a total population of 28 960 people, whereas 13 784 are male and 15 176 female living in 6430 households in sixteen villages. The villages around the nature reserve include Kwenkeyu, Kizara, Kilangangua, Bombo maji moto, Magunganzia, Folofolo, Kifango, Kitivo, Makumba in Korogwe. Other villages inclu de Kazito, Kizerui and Zirai in Muheza District and Kuze, Kibango and Bosho kumtindi are in Mkinga District (Fig. 1). The dominant tribe in the villages is Sambaa, other tribes include Ngoni, and Pare. The main stay of all these communities is

agriculture: growing maize, beans, bananas and cardamom. It was also observed that people in mentioned villages depend much on the NNR for their livelihoods. Water, firewood, fruits and medicines used by these communities are sourced from the forest reserve. Furthermore, some people conduct illegal activities such as cultivation of *Cannabis sativa*, tobacco and cardamom in the nature reserve.



Figure 1: Map of Nilo Nature Reserve

3.2 Data Collection Methods

3.2.1 Sampling design

The reserve was divided into four elevation bands (ranges): 400 - 667 m *asl*, 667 - 992 m *asl*, 992 - 1228 m *asl* and 1228 - 1504 m *asl*. One $100 \times 40 \text{ m}$ (0.4 ha) permanent plot marked on the ground was located randomly by the aid of topographic map in each elevation range. The average distance between plots across contour was 246 m (Appendix 1). In each 0.4ha plot twenty sub-plots with 10 x 20 m sizes were systematically distributed (Fig. 2). In order to minimize variation within a plot, they were laid out with long axis perpendicular to the direction of the slope or environmental gradient.

The rationale of stratifying Nilo Nature Reserve into elevation bands is due to the fact that the Nature Reserve has wide range of elevation (400 m to 1504 m). According to Hamilton *et al.* (1998) there is continuous variation in the vegetation along an elevation gradient. Therefore, Nilo Nature Reserve was stratified into elevation bands in order to capture information in a short range of elevation regarding stand structure and carbon stock. This is essential not only for understand condition of the stand structure and carbon stock at each elevation band but also for planning appropriate management or restoration aiming at reducing deforestation and forest degradation. This is because, understanding how plants distributed within an elevation band, is critical for on designing restoration and biodiversity conservation programme (Munishi, 2001).



Figure 2: Plot layout in the Nilo Nature Reserve.

3.2.2 Determination of stand structure and carbon

In each plot information on elevation (m) and diameter at breast height (dbh) in centimetre for all trees with dbh \geq 5 were collected. The dbh was measured using a caliper and a dbh tape for big trees which could not be measured by a caliper. Tree species were identified in the field for botanical name by a qualified botanist from Tanzania Forestry Research Institute (TAFORI). For species that were not identified in the field, voucher specimens were collected for identification in Lushoto Silvicultural Station Herbarium.

3.2.3 Determination of above ground carbon stock

Wood cores were extracted from each of the sample trees using increment borer at 1.3 m from the ground for determination of wood density. The wood core volume was determined by using Archimedes principle. Wood core density was computed as core oven dry weight to the wood core volume for each tree species.

3.2.4 Determination of soil carbon stock

In each sample plot, three points at the middle of the plot perpendicular to the slope were selected systematically for collection of soil samples. Soil samples were collected at 15 and 30 cm depths. The three samples from each depth were combined, air dried, finely grained and sieved through 2 mm sieve. Percent soil carbon was determined as described by Andeson and Ingram (1993).

Soil cores for determination of bulk density were collected at the middle of each plot (0 -15 and 15 - 30 cm depth) using bulk density core samplers. The bulk density cores were oven dried to constant weight in the laboratory. The soil bulk density was computed as the ratio of the soil oven dry weight to the soil core volume for each sample.

3.3 Data Analysis

Data analysis involved determination of tree species composition, richness, diversity, stem density, basal area and volume as well as above and below ground carbon stock. This was followed by the analysis of variation in stand structure parameters with elevation and the relationship of stand structure parameters with carbon stocks.

3.3.1 Tress species composition

Identified individual tree species were arranged alphabetically in spreadsheet and thereafter the list and number of species in the forest were obtained. The dominant tree species was determined on the basis of their Important Value Index (IVI). This is because IVI gives a combined standard measure of abundance, density and dispersion for each species (Kent and Coker, 1992). The higher the IVI the more ecologically dominant and important the tree species in a given plant community (Shrestha *et al.*, 2000; Reddy *et al.*, 2008). The IVI for each individual tree species was determined using the formula (Mueller-Dombois and Ellenberg, 1974; Munishi *et al.*, 2007; Nzunda, 2008).

IVI = (RD + RDo + RF)...(1)

Where:

 $RD = 100 \times number$ of individuals of the species/ number of individuals of all species

RDo = $100 \times$ total basal area of the species/ total basal area of all species

 $RF = 100 \times number$ of occurrence of the species/number of occurrences of all species

3.3.2 Tree species diversity

S

Shannon Wiener index (H') was used to determine trees diversity for the forest. The index can be described mathematically as follows:

 $H' = -\sum pi \ln pi \dots (2)$
i=1

Where;

H = Shannon–Wiener index

 P_i = the proportion of all individuals in the sample that belong to species i.

s = total number of species

 $\ln = \log_e = natural \log arithm of pi (e = 2.71828).$

P_i is best estimated as $\frac{n_i}{N}$, the maximum likelihood estimator (Kent and Coker, 1992);

Where,

 n_i = total number of individuals in the i^{th} species

N = total number of individuals of all species

The Shannon Wiener index assumes that all the species from the community are included in the samples. The value usually lies between 1.5 and 3.5 although it can occasionally exceed 4.5 (Kent and Coker, 1992).

3.3.3 Diameter class distribution

Eleven tree diameter (DBH) classes of interval of 10.9 cm up to 100cm were established. Stem density, mean DBH, basal area, volume and carbon per hectare were used to characterize the forest and determine the contribution a species and diameter class have on carbon storage in the forest.

3.3.4 Stem density

Stem density was computed by using the following formula;

$$N = \sum \frac{n_i}{a} \dots 3$$

Where:

N = Number of stems per hectare

 n_i = number of trees counted,

a = plot area in ha.

3.3.5 Basal area

Basal area (m²/ha) was calculated from measured dbh (1.3 m) for all woody individuals in all plots. This was expressed mathematically as follows:

 $g_i = \Pi dbh^2/4$

$$G = \sum \left(\frac{g_i}{A \times n} \right) \qquad \dots$$

Where;

G= basal area of the ith plot (m²ha⁻¹)

dbh = Diameter at breast height (cm)

 $\pi=Pi$

A = Plot area (ha)

n = Number of plots

 g_i = Basal area of a tree (m²)

3.3.5 Volume

Tree volume was estimated using the formula developed for some forests in the Eastern Arc Mountains (Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004):

Where; V_i = tree volume (cm³), DBH = diameter at breast height

3.3.6 Wood density and above ground carbon stock

The tree wood density was computed as a ratio of dry mass to green volume. Tree bole biomass was computed as the product of wood density and tree volume. A biomass expansion factor (BEF) of 29% was used to estimate the biomass of the branches and foliage (Hall, 1980; Munishi *et al.*, 2000; Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004). Root biomass was estimated as 22% of the above ground biomass (Brown and Lugo, 1992; Malimbwi *et al.*, 1994). Individual tree species biomass was aggregated to plot biomass and divided by the plot area to obtain biomass density (tonsha⁻¹). Tree biomass was converted to carbon through multiplication by 0.49 (Colman and Cote, 1968; quoted in (Munishi *et al.*, 2000, Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear, 2004 and Zahabu, 2008).

3.3.7 Soil carbon stock

The soil bulk density was computed as the ratio of the soil oven dry weight to the soil core volume for each sample. Soil carbon density in the forest was computed as the product of volume of soil per unit area (ha), bulk density and percent of carbon in the soil (%SOC).

3.3.8 Variation of stand structure parameters between elevation and their

relationship with carbon stock

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare stand structure parameters and carbon stock between elevation bands while simple correlation analysis was used to examine relationship other stand structure parameters (species diversity, diameter distribution, stem density, basal area and volume per hectare) with carbon stored in the forest. The coefficient of correlation R² was employed to depict the relationship. A value of R² near or equal to 0 implies little or no linear relationship between variable Y (stand parameter) and X (carbon stock), the closer the value of R² to 1 or -1 implies the stronger the linear relationship between stand parameter and carbon stock. The aim here was to check whether carbon stock has any relationship with stand structure parameters. Microsoft Office Excel computer programme were used for generation of descriptive statistics and correlation while and Stastical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) was used to test variations between stand structure and carbon stock across elevation in the Nature Reserve.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Stand Structure

4.1.1 Tree species composition

A total of 713 trees and shrubs were measured, comprising of 73 and 4 species of tree and shrubs respectively in 29 families (Appendix 9). The most dominant tree species were *Sensypallum msolo*, *Tabarnaemontana usambarensis*, *Macaranga capensis*, *Leptonychia usambarensis*, *Strombosia scheffleri*, *Newtonia buchananii*, *Cylicomorpha parviflora*, *Albizia zimmermannii*, *Albizia gummifera and Drypetes subdentata* accounting for 54.1% of the basal area (Table 1 and Appendix 2). The higher Importance Value Index for these tree species is an indication that they have wide range of growth, adaptability and evenly distributed in the forest (Kent and Coker, 1992; Reddy *et al.*, 2008).

S/n	Species	IVI
1	Sensypallum msolo	30.44
2	Newtonia buchananii	15.96
3	Cylicomopha parviflora	15.25
4	Strombosia scheffleri	17.15
5	Albizia gummifera	10.04
6	Albizia zimmermannii	10.79
7	Tabarnaemontana usambarensis	20.50
8	Myrianthus hoistii	9.37
9	Drypetes subdentata	9.54
10	Macaranga capensis	20.40

Table 1: The most dominant tree species based on species IVI in the Nilo Nature Reserve

4.1.2 Tree species diversity

On average, Shannon-Wiener diversity index (H') was 3.60. The high value of Shannon-Wiener index shows that Nilo Nature Reserve has high tree species diversity. This is because an ecosystem with H' value > 2 has been regarded as medium to high diverse in terms of species (Kohli *et al.*, 1996; Isango, 2007).

4.1.3 Stem density

The mean stem density was 299 ± 26 stems ha⁻¹ for trees with dbh \geq 5cm. The stem density observed in this study was much less than that obtained by Munishi, 2001; Munishi and Shear (2004); Kajembe *at al.* (2004) and Luoga *et al.* (2005) respectively in montane forests of Uluguru, West Usambara, Kwizu forest reserve and South Kilimanjaro Catchment Forest Reserves respectively. The low stem density in Nilo Nature Reserve might be caused by human disturbance particularly selective logging. Illegal timber harvesting and fire wood cutting noted in the forest during the field work. This may also indicate a continuing degradation in Nilo Nature Reserve (Fig. 3).



Figure 3: Tree remnants from illegal timber and firewood cut as observed in Nilo Nature Reserve.

4.1.4 Diameter size class distribution

The overall mean diameter of the trees in Nilo Nature Reserve was 26 ± 2.88cm. There are higher numbers of small diameter trees with low DBH size class (< 20 cm) compared to those with large DBH sizes class. The number of trees in the DBH size class decreased with increasing DBH size class conforming reverse 'J' shape (Fig. 4) which is an indication of active recruitment and regeneration. According to Phillip (1994), a reverse 'J' shape is common for natural forests with active regeneration and recruitment. The high regeneration in the forest of Nilo Nature Reserve indicates that the forest is undergoing normal recruitment and regeneration or recovering from previous anthropogenic disturbances. It has been reported that during colonial era timber logging was intensive in Nilo Nature Reserve. This might be one of the factors that have resulted into the present status.



Figure 4: Stem density across DBH size classes distribution in Nilo Nature Reserve.

4.1.5 Basal area

The overall mean basal area was $38.08 \pm 3.61 \text{ m}^2\text{ha}^{-1}$. This figure is lower than that reported by Malimbwi and Mgeni (1991); Munishi (2001); Munishi and Shear (2004) Mazumbai Forest Reserve in West Usambara and higher than that reported by Munishi (2001); Munishi and Shear (2004) and Kajembe *et al.* (2004) in Urugulu and Kwizu Forest Reserve respectively. This might be caused by difference in tree sizes between the forest reserves since big size classes contributed higher basal area (Fig. 5).



Figure 5: Distribution of basal area by DBH size classes in the Nilo Nature Reserve.

4.1.6 Volume

The overall mean standing volume was $488.35 \pm 56.32 \text{ m}^3\text{ha}^{-1}$. This volume was slightly less than that reported by Kajembe *et al.* (2004) and higher than that reported by Wass (1995) in Kwizu Forest Reserve and in Mount Kenya respectively. This might be caused by differences in tree sizes between the forest reserves as the big trees contributed to high volume (Fig. 4 and 6). Exploitation history and recovering rate of tree species from previous anthropogenic disturbances may account for the difference.

Figure 6: Distribution of volume by DBH size classes in the Nilo Nature Reserve.

4.2 Above Ground and Soil Carbon Stock

4.2.1 Above Ground Carbon Stock

The mean biomass density was 593.91 ± 66.97 tha⁻¹ which translates to mean carbon density of 291 ± 32.81 tha⁻¹. Ten trees had highest contribution to carbon storage include, *Sensypallum msoo, Sensypallum cerasiferum, Newtonia buchananii, Strombosia scheffleri, Albizia gumifera, Albizia zimmermanii, Tabarnaemontana usambarensis, Drypetes subdentata, Macaranga capensis* and *Polyscias fulva* (Table1 and Appendix 2). These tree species contributed about 62% of the total carbon storage in the forest. Compared with other studies, the average carbon density obtained in this study, was less than that reported by Munishi (2001); Munishi and Shear (2004) in West Usambara and Uluguru Mountains. The low biomass and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve might be

caused by anthropogenic disturbance caused by local communities living around as well as previous industrial exploitation in Nilo Nature Reserve. Differences in species composition, tree sizes and the physical environment might have also caused the difference in carbon stocks between the forest reserves.

4.2.2 Soil Carbon Stock

Average carbon stock was 247.1 ± 73.4 tha⁻¹. The soil carbon stocks in Nilo Nature Reserve is much lower than that reported by Munishi (2001); Munishi and Shear (2004); Mackey *et al.* (2008) in similar forest types. The reason for this variation carbon stock might be differences in tree species composition, vegetation density and soil characteristics. This is because the higher the species richness and vegetation density the higher the accumulation of litter and hence the higher the input of organic carbon in soils (Sheikh *et al.*, 2009). Difference in temperatures and precipitation between the forest reserves may also likely be cause of variation in soil carbon stock as they facilitate decomposition of soil organic carbon stored within forest ecosystem and released into the atmosphere (Sheikh *et al.*, 2009; Brown, 2010; Yang *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, variation of soil characteristics between the forest reserves may also account for the variation carbon stock. According to Walker and Desanker (2004), clay dominated soils and soils with lower bulk densities have the highest carbon levels.

4.3 Relationship between Stand Structure and Carbon Storage

It was observed that diameter distribution, basal area and volume had a positive and significant correlation with carbon storage (p = 0.001) (Fig. 9, 11, 12 and Appendix 4). Other studies have shown that stand basal area, volume and diameter are correlated with carbon storage in Thailand (Huang *et al.*, **2002**; Franklin *et al.*, 2002; Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). On the other hand, there was no significant relationship between carbon storage

and neither tree species composition and diversity nor stem density, though carbon stocks increased slightly with increase in the stand parameters (Fig. 7, 8, 10 and Appendix 4).



Figure 7: Relationship between species composition and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve



Figure 8: Relationship between species diversity and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve.



Figure 9: Relationship between average DBH and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve.







Figure 11: Relationship between basal area and carbon stock in Nilo Nature Reserve.



Figure 12: Relationship between volume and carbon stock in the Nilo Nature Reserve.

4.4 Stand Structure Parameters and Carbon Storage across Elevation in Nilo Nature Reserve

4.4.1 Change of stand structure with elevation

Generally, there was no significant difference in number of species (species richness), tree species diversity, stem density, average DBH, basal area and volume across elevation gradient though mid-high elevation band (992-1228 m *asl*) differed significantly from high elevation band (1504 - 1228 m *asl*) in average diameter, basal area and volume (Table 2 and Appendices 5, 6 and 7). The difference might be attributed to the lower DBH class size trees in the mid-high elevation band compared to high elevation band (Fig. 13 and 14). The area in the mid-high elevation band was previously logged heavily and encroached for farmland by villagers living in Kwamkeyu village located about 1000 metres above seal level. Villagers from the aforementioned village had been conducting illegal activities such as cultivation of *Cannabis sativa*, tobacco and cardamom within the nature reserve at past.



Figure 13: DBH size class distribution at mid-high elevation band (992 – 1228 m *asl*) in Nilo Nature Reserve.



Figure 14: DBH size class distribution at high elevation band (1228 – 1504 m *asl*) in Nilo Nature Reserve.



Figure 15: Distribution of carbon stock in trees by DBH size classes in the Nilo Nature Reserve.

4.4.2 Change in above ground carbon stock across elevation

Generally, carbon stock was not significantly different across elevation gradients though higher elevation band had relatively higher carbon than other lower elevation bands (Table 2). The difference was caused the lower elevation bands having large number of trees of small DBH size classes which contributed less basal area and volume which led to low carbon stock. This was because the larger the DBH, basal area and volume the higher the capacity of carbon storage (Figures 4, 5, 6, 14 and 15). Other studies have shown that large trees have high capacity for carbon storage whereas small trees especially the young ones have low carbon storage capacity (Franklin *et al.*, 2002; Terakunpisut *et al.*, 2007). Table 2: Stand parameters and carbon stock across elevation bands in Nilo NatureReserve

0.369	1.39	289.9±158.8	241.9 ± 211.3
0.101	2.15	223.2±57.9	135.9±35.8
0.139	1.89	601.2± 311.8	366.2±192.6
0.107	2.10	44.4±18.5	28.1±12.6
0.197	1.60	263 ± 6	333 ± 6
0.040	2.90	31.5±7.4	20.8± 4.3
0.280	1.30	2.5	3.2
0.239	1.45	22	32
P-value	F-value	1228-1504 m	992-1228 m
		Elevation band	

S/n	Parameters		
		400 - 667 m	667-992 m
2	Species richness	33	28
ŝ	Species diversity (H')	2.6	2.8
4	Mean diameter (dbh)	23.7±4.2	28.3± 4.9
ы	Stem density (stemsha ⁻¹)	318 ± 4	283 ± 4
9	Basal area (m²ha⁻¹)	39.5±15.0	40.5±8.9
Γ	Volume (m³ha ⁻¹)	486.2±233.9	499.81±126.9
8	Carbon in trees (tha ⁻¹)	180.6± 43.6	185.6± 23.6
6	Carbon in soils (tha ⁻¹)	319.5± 47.6	137.1±42.6

4.4.3 Change in soil carbon stock with elevation

It was observed that there was no significant difference in soil carbon stock across elevation gradient. The trend showed that there was a slightly increase in carbon stock in from lower elevation to higher elevation (Fig. 16). In other studies Munishi (2001) found higher elevation contained relatively high soil organic carbon than lower elevation in the Eastern Arc Mountain. Similarly, Karhu *et al.* (2010) found that high elevation forest soils stored relatively large quantities of organic carbon in Austria and Spain. The high organic carbon in high altitude is attributed by low organic matter decomposition rate at high elevation because of low temperature resulting in high accumulation of organic matter in soils (Munishi, 2001; Karhu *et al.*, 2010). On other hand, old growths at high altitude can account for the high accumulation of soil organic carbon at high elevation. According to Munishi (2001); Munishi and Shear (2004) old growth forest was likely to have relatively stable soil organic carbon pool in form of humic substances with long residence times. In Nilo Nature Reserve, high elevation contained old growth forests parts.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusions

Based on the results obtained from the present study, it can be concluded that:

(a) Status of stand structure

- Tree species such as: Sensypallum msolo, Tabarnaemontana usambarensis, Macaranga capensis, Leptonychia usambarensis, Strombosia scheffleri, Newtonia buchananii, Cylicomorpha parviflora, Albizia zimmermannii, Albizia gummifera and Drypetes subdentata are the most abundant and highly distributed in Nilo Nature Reserve.
- High tree species diversity in the Nilo Nature Reserve reflects high heterogeneity of tree species in the Nature Reserve. Heterogeneity in tree species in the forest is important for resilience of forests from adverse condition such as disease and climate change if occurs.
- High number of regenerants than big trees in the natural forest of Nilo Nature Reserve is an assurance of future recovering of the forest ecosystem from the anthropogenic disturbances.
- The mean stem density, basal area and volume were relatively high in Nilo Nature Reserve in comparison to forest of the same type.

(b) Above ground and soil carbon storage

- The forest has high quantity of carbon in both vegetation and soil which is evidence that its existence is important for carbon emission mitigation strategy.

(c) Relationship between stand structure and carbon storage

- Tree diameter size, basal area and volume are strongly positively related to carbon storage and hence are good prediction of the carbon stocks in forests.

(d) Variation of stand structure and carbon stock across elevation

- Average diameter, basal area, volume and above ground carbon stock were significantly at high elevation than the mid-elevation band.

5.2 Recommendations

Based on the objectives, results and discussion from this study, it recommended that:

- a. Nilo Nature Reserve should be effectively protected from illegal logging because this practise leads to alteration of stand structure thus reducing carbon storage capacity of the forest.
- b. Study on relationship of stand structure and carbon storage in natural forests in large scale in different vegetation types is recommended.
- c. Nilo Nature Reserve can be a good site for REDD+ activities based on its carbon content in conjunction with other ecosystem services it provides.

REFERENCES

- Adam, D. M. and Ek, A. R. (1974). Optimizing the management of uneven-aged forest stands. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 4: 274-287.
- Andeson, J. M. and Ingram, J. S. I. (1993). *Tropical soil biology and fertility*: A hand book of methods. 2nd Edition. C.A.B. International, UK. 221pp.
- Arrison, F. A., Howard, A. J. P., Howard, M. D., Howard, C. D. and Hornung, M.(1995).Carbonstorageinforestsoils.[http://forestry.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/Abstract/68/4/335] site visited on 7/1/2010.
- Baishya, R., Barik, K. S. and Upadhaya, K. (2009). Distribution pattern of aboveground biomass in natural and plantation forests of humid tropics in northeast India. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 50 (2): 295 - 304.
- Billheimer, D., Guttorp, P. and Fagan, F. W. (2001). Statistical Interpretation of Species Composition.
 [http://www.questia.com/googleScholar.qst;jsessionid=LTlZq3QxRWmyPsykk61 ZkJTXkFrnd4rgQQw65Cc86RLC2zLwNV1T!1681957297!755419558? docId=5002434300] site visited on 30/11/2009.
- Brown, S. (1997). A primer for estimating biomass and biomass changes of Tropical Forest. *FAO Forestry paper No.134*. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 55pp.

- Brown, S. (2010). Connections between Compost, Soil Carbon and Climate Change. [http://www.agresourceinc.com/news_and_articles.htm] site visited on 27/9/2010.
- Brown, S. and Lugo, E. A. (1992). Above ground biomass estimates for tropical moist forests of the Brazilian Amazon. *Intercencia* 17: 8 18.
- Bunker, D. E., DeClerck, F., Bradford, J. C., Colwell, R. K., Perfecto I., Phillips, O. L., Sankaran, M. and Naeem, S. (2005). Species loss and aboveground carbon storage in a tropical forest. *Express Science Journal* 310:1029 - 1031.
- Chen, X. (2006). Tree Diversity, Carbon Storage, and Soil Nutrient in an Old-Growth Forest at Changbai Mountain, Northeast China. [http://www.informaworld.com/ smp/content~content=a741636643&db=all] site visited on 21/1/2010.
- Edward, E. (2007). Population status and distribution of a potential invasive alien species *Cordia alliodora* in Amani Nature Reserve, Tanzania. Dissertation for award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 125pp.
- Elliott, J. K. and Hewirr, D. (1997). Forest species diversity in upper elevation hardwood forests in the Southern Appalachian Mountains. *Castanea* 62 (1): 32 42.
- FAO (2006). Global Forest Resources Assessment 2005: Progress towards sustainable forest management. [ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/008/A0400E/A0400E00.pdf] site visited on 1/6/2011.

- Franklin, F. J., Spies, A. T., Pelt, V. R., Carey, B .A., Thornburgh, A. D., Berg, R. D., Lindenmayer, B. D., Harmon, E. M., Keeton, S. W., Shaw, C. D., Bible, K., Chen, J. (2002). Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. *Journal of Forest Ecology and Management* 155: 399 423.
- Frontier Tanzania (2002). Beharrell, N. K., Fanning, E. and Howell, K. M. (Eds.) NiloNature Reserve: *A biodiversity survey*. East Usambara Conservation AreaManagement Programme. Technical Paper 53. Dar es salaam, Tanzania. 160pp.
- Gibbs, H. K., Brown, S., Niles, J. O. and Foley, J. A. (2007). Monitoring and Estimating Tropical Forest Carbon Stocks: Making REDD a Reality. *Environmental Research Letters* 2: 23 - 45.
- Grace1, J., San J. J., Meir, P., Miranda, H. S. and Montes, A. R. (2006). Productivity and carbon fluxes of tropical savannas. *Journal of Biogeography* 33: 387 400.
- Gurney, R. K. and Raymond, L. (2008). Targeting deforestation rates in climate change policy: a "Preservation Pathway" approach. *Carbon Balance and Management* 3 (2): 3 7.
- Hall, J. B. (1980). Report on Practical Training Programme in Forest Ecology-Exercise in Forest Botany. *Division of Forestry, University of Dar es salaam*, Morogoro, Tanzania. 9pp.

- Hamiliton, A. C. (1989). History of resource utilization and management: The pre-colonial period. In: Forest conservation in the East Usambara Mountains, Tanzania. (*Edited by* Hamiliton, A. C and Bented-Smith, R) IUCN, Gland. pp. 35 44.
- Hamilton, A. C. and Bensted-Smith, R. (1989). Forest Conservation in the East UsambaraMountains Tanzania. IUCN-The World Conservation Union Forest Division,Ministry of Lands, Natural Resources and Tourism, United Republic of Tanzania.392pp.
- Hamilton, A. C. (1998). Vegetation, climate and soil: Attitudinal relationships on the East
 Usambara mountains, Tanzania. *Journal of East Africa Natural History* 87:
 85 89.
- Hogan, C. M. and Reay, D. (2010). Greenhouse gas. [http://www.eoearth.org/article/ Greenhouse_gas?topic=49554] site visited on 20/6/2011.
- Huang, W., Pohjonenb, V., Johanssonc, S., Nashandab, M., Katigulab, M. I. L. and Luukkanena, O. (2002). Species diversity, forest structure and species composition in Tanzanian tropical forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 173 (1): 11 - 24.
- Husch, B., Miller, I. C. and Beers, W. T. (1982). *Forest Mensuration*. 3rd Edition. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 402pp.
- Husch, B., Beer, W. T. and Kershaw, A. J. (2002). Forest Mensuration. [http://books. google.se/books?id=p0v3m8PaukC&pg=PA178&lpg=PA178&dq=stocking/ stand +parameters +forest% 3F&source= bl&ots=LEHOri FAWs&sig= 6pen KSKJVgr

QYasaoGwRmhPaQ&hl=sv&ei=_8ZeSsCbK8P5_Ab9r4DhDA&sa=X&oi=book _result&ct=result&resnum=1] site visited on 16/7/2009.

- IPCC (2007). Physical science basis. In: Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (Edited by Solomon, S., Manning, D. Q. M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Tignor, K. B. M. and Miller, H. L.). Cambridge University Press. UK. 996pp.
- Isango, J. (2007). Stand structure and tree species composition of Tanzania Miombo Woodlands: A Case Study from Miombo Woodlands of Community Based Forest Management in Iringa District. *Working papers of Finnish Forest Research Institute* 50: 43 - 56.
- Jonson, M. and Wardle, D. A. (2009). Structural equation modelling reveals plantcommunity drivers of carbon storage in boreal forest ecosystems. [http://rsbl.royal societypublishing.org/content/6/1/116.full] site visited on 21/1/2010.
- Jorgensen, I. and Milledge, S. (2009). Supporting REDD to keep Tanzania green. [http:// www.norway.go.tz/News_and_events/News/News-fromEmbassy/REDDsigning/] site visited on 9/7/2010.
- Kajembe, G. C., Namubiru, E. L., Shemweta D. T. K., Luoga, E. J. and Mwaipopo, C. S.
 (2004). The impact of rules in forest conservation in Tanzania. Case of Kwizu
 Forest Reserve, Same District, Kilimanjaro. In: *Proceedings of the IFRI East African regional conference on institutions, incentives and conflicts in forest*

management. (Edited by Shemweta, D. T. K. *et al.*). 12th - 23th January, 2004. Moshi, Tanzania. pp. 92 - 105.

- Kajembe, G. C., Ngaga, M. Y., Chamshama, S. O. A. and Njana, A. M. (2009).
 Performance of participatory forests management (PFM) regimes in Tanzania:
 Preliminary findings in the project 'Applied research in PFM'. In: *Proceedings of the First Participatory Forest Management (PFM) Research Workshop*. (Edited by Nshubemuki, L. *et al.*). 15th-16th December, 2008. Morogoro, Tanzania.
 pp. 93 110.
- Karhu, K., Fritze, H., Tuomi, M., Vanhala, P., Spetz, P., Kitunen, V., Liski, J. (2010). Temperature sensitivity of forest soil organic matter decomposition along two elevation gradients. *Journal of Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 42: 72 - 82.
- Kent, M. and Coker, P. (1992). *Vegetation Description and Analysis*, *A practical Approach*. Belhaven Press, 25 Floral Street, London. 363pp.
- Klappenbach, L. (2011). Biome. [http://animals.about.com/cs/biogeography/g/biome.htm] site visited on 11/6/2011.
- Kohli, R. K., Singh, H. P. and Rani, D. (1996). Status of flow vegetation under some monoculture and mix culture plantations in Noth India. *Journal of Forest Research* 1:205 209.
- Kumar, A., Marcot, G. B. and Saxena, A. (2006). Tree species diversity and distribution patterns in tropical forests of Garo Hills. *Current science* 91 (10):1370 1381.

- Lawuo, E. A. (2008). Overview of PFM activities in the country; the Need for Tanzania to Participate in the REDD Policy. In: *Proceedings of 15^h Annual Scientific and 22nd General meeting*. (Edited by Malimbwi, R. E and Zahabu, E). 6th 7th November, 2008. Morogoro, Tanzania. pp. 8 16.
- Lema, J. M. (2000). Seed bank studies of tropical submontane rainforest patches of East Usambara Mountains, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 90pp.
- Lorenz, K. and Lal, R. (2010). Carbon Sequestration in Forest Ecosystems. [http:// books. google. com/ books? id=2 WZ2SJty CpAC&printsec=frontcover&dq=inauthor: %22Klaus+Lorenz%22&hl=en#v=onepage&q&f=false] site visited on 11/6/2011.
- Lowore, J. D.; Abbot, P. G. and Werren, M. (1994). Stackwood volume estimations for Miombo Woodlands in Malawi. *Commonwealth Forestry Review* 73: 193 197.
- Luhende, R. J. K. (2003). Evaluation of above ground biomass, volume and litter fall for Autralian Acacias grown in Rotational woodlot Trials in Tabora District, Tanazania. Dissertation for Award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 124pp.
- Luoga, E. J., Kajembe, G. C., Shemweta, D.T. K., Zahabu, E., Mwaipopo, C. S. and Kweka, D.L. (2005). Assessment of tree stocking and diversity for Joint Forest Management (JFM) in Kweshoo Village Forest Management Area, Kilimanjaro Tanzania. *Forests, trees and livelihoods* 15: 259 - 273.

- Mackey, G. B., Keith, H., Berry, L. S. and Lindenmayer, B. D. (2008). The role of natural forests in carbon storage [http://epress.anu.edu.au/green_carbon_citati on.html] site visited on 20/1/2008.
- Mafupa, C. J. (2006). Impact of Human Disturbances in Miombo woodlands of IgombeRiver Forest Reserve, Nzega District, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc.Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 84pp.
- Malimbwi, R. E. and Mgeni, S. M. (1991). Preliminary Results from the Permanent Sample Plot Program at Mazumbai Forest Project. In: *Multproduct Inventory of Tropical Mixed Forest IUFRO Proceedings* (Edited by Temu, A. B. and Malimbwi, R. E). Arusha, Tanzania. pp. 47 - 53.
- Malimbwi, R. E. and Mugasha, A. G. (2002). *Reconnaissance Timber Inventory Report for Handeni Hill Forest Reserve in Handeni District, Tanzania*. Faculty of Forestry and Nature Conservation, Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 34pp.
- Malimbwi, R. E., Solberg, B. and Luoga, E. (1994). Estimate of Biomass and Volume in Miombo Woodland at Kitulangalo Forest Reserve, Tanzania. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science* 7: 230 242.
- Martin, G. J. (1996). *Ethnobotany*: A Method manual. Botanical garden, Kew, Chapman and Hall press. UK. 30pp.

- Mbwambo, L., Valkonen. S. and Kuutti. V. (2008). Structure and dynamics of miombo woodland stands at Kitulangalo Forest Reserve, Tanzania. *Working papers of Finnish Forest Research Institute* 50: 10 - 19.
- Merino, A., Real, C., Álvarez-González, G. J. and Rodríguez-Guitián, A. M. (2007).
 Forest structure and Carbon stocks in natural *Fagus sylvatica* forest in southern Europe: The effects of past management. *Journal of Ecology and Management* 250 (3): 206 214.
- Miles, L., Kabalimu, K., Bahane, B., Ravilious, C., Dunning, E., Bertzky, M., Kapos, V., Dickson, B. (2009). Carbon, biodiversity and ecosystem services: exploring cobenefits in Tanzania. [http://www.unep wcmc.org/climate/ Publica tions. aspx] site visited on 31/12/ 2009.
- MNRT (1998). National Forest Policy. Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism. Dar es Salaam. 59pp.
- MNRT (2001). National Forest Programme in Tanzania 2001 2010. Ministry of Natural Resources and Tourism (MNRT) Dar es Salaam. 134pp.
- Mohamed, B. S. (2006). Impact of Joint Forest Management in Handeni Hill Forest Reserve and Adjacent Communities, Tanga, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 113pp.
- Mueller-Dombois, D. and Ellenberg, H. (1974). *Aims and methods of vegetation ecology*. Jon Wiley and Sons, New York. 547pp.

- Munishi, P. K. T., Maliondo, S. M., Msanya, B. and Malimbwi, R. E. (2000). Biomass and carbon storage of a tropical montane rain forest ecosystem in Northern Tanzania. In: Proceedings of the First University Wide Scientific Conference held at the Institute of Continuing Education (ICE), Sokoine University of Agriculture, 5th 7th April 2000. Morogoro, Tanzania. pp. 478-493.
- Munishi, P. K. T. (2001). The Eastern Arc Mountains Forests of Tanzania: Their role in Biodiversity, Water Resource Conservation, and Net contribution to Atmospheric Carbon. Dissertation for Award of PhD Degree at University of North Carolina State University, USA. 128pp.
- Munishi, P. K. T. and Shear, T. H. (2004). Carbon storage in afromontane rain forests of the Eastern Arc Mountains of Tanzania: Their net contribution to atmospheric carbon. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science* 16: 78 98.
- Munishi, P. T. K., Shear, T. H., Wentworth, T. and Temu, R. P. C. (2007). Compositional gradients of plant communities in submontane rainforests of eastern Tanzania. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science* 19(1): 35 45.
- Mwandosya, J. M. (1999). *Survival Emissions*: A perspective from the South on Global Climate Change Negotiation. DUP (1996) L.T.D. Dar es salaam. 177pp.
- Nair, P. K. R. (1984). Soil productivity Aspects of Agroforestry No.1 Nairobi: ICRAF 85pp.

- Nduwamungu, J. and Malimbwi, R. E. (1997). Tree and Shrub Species Diversity in Miombo Woodland. A Case study of Kitulangalo Forest Reserve, Morogoro, Tanzania. In: *Proceedings of an International Symposium on Assessment and Monitoring of Forests in Tropical Dry Regions with Special Reference to Gallery Forests* (Edited by Encinas, I. J. and Kleinn, C), 4th - 7th November, 1996, Brasilia, Brazil. pp. 39 - 258.
- Ngegba, S. M. (1998). Effect of forest plantations on selected soil properties at Sao Hill Forest Plantation, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 101pp.
- Ngeleja, L. J. (2008). Reducing carbon emission: A policy perspective In: *Proceedings of 15^h annual Scientific and 22nd General meeting*. (*Edited by* Malimbwi, R. E and Zahabu, E). 6th 7th November, 2008. Morogoro, Tanzania. pp. 17-24.
- Njana, A. M. (2008). Arborescent species diversity and stocking in miombo Woodland of urumwa forest reserve and their Contribution to livelihoods, Tabora, Tanzania.
 Dissertation for Award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 193pp.
- Nzunda, E. F. (2008). Resprouting and Multi-stemming and the role of the persistence niche in the structure and dynamics of subtropical coastal dume forest in KwaZulu-Natal province, South Africa. Dissertation for Award of PhD Degree at University of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. 162pp.
- Philip, M. (1983). *Measuring Trees and Forests*. The Division of Forestry, University of Dar es salaam, Dar es Salaam. 337pp.

- Philip, O. and Gentry, A. H. (1993). The Useful Plants of Tambopata, Peru: Statistical
 Hypothesis Tests with a new Quantitative Technique. *Economic Botany* 47: 15 32.
- Reddy, S. C., Ugle, P., Murthy, R. S. M. and Sudhakar, S. (2008). Quantitative structure and composition of Tropical Forests of Mudumalai Wildlife Sanctuary, Western Ghats, India. *Taiwania* 53 (2): 150 156.
- Rice, W. C. (2010). Storing Carbon in Soil: Why and How? [http://www.agiweb.org/geo times/jan02/feature_carbon.html] site visited on 27/9/2010.
- Richard, J. (2007). Abundance and distribution of an alien plant Panama rubber (*Castilla elastica*) in Amani nature reserve, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 90pp.
- Schimel, D. S. (1995). Terrestrial ecosystems and the carbon cycle. *Global Change Biology* 1: 77 - 91.
- Shah, A. (2009). Climate Change and Global Warming. [http://www.globalissues.org/ article/233/climate-change-and-global-warming introduction#WhatisGlobal Warmingand ClimateChange] site visited on 18/3/2009.
- Shanahan, M. (2005). Forest carbon storage 'depends on diversity'. [http://www.scidev.ne t/en/news/forest-carbon-storage-depends-on-diversity.html] site visited on 5/1/2010.
- Sheikh, A. M. Kumar, M. and Bussmann, W. **R. (2009).** Altitudinal variation in soil organic carbon stock in coniferous subtropical and broadleaf temperate forests in

Garhwal Himalaya. [http://www.cbmjournal.com/content/4/1/6] site visited on 5/9/2010.

- Shrestha, R., Karmacharya, B. S. and Jha, K. P. (2000). Vegetation analysis of natural and degraded forests in Chitrepani in Siwalik region of Central Nepal. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 41 (1): 111 114.
- Terakunpisut, J., Gajaseni. N. and Ruankawe, N. (2007). Carbon sequestration potential in aboveground biomass of thong phaphum national forest, Thailand. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research* 5 (2): 93 102.
- Valkonen, S. (2007). Structure and Management of complex stands-key features and study methodology. *Working papers of Finnish Forest Research Institute* 50: 74 87.
- Walker, M. S. and Desanker, V. P. (2004). The impact of land use on soil carbon in Miombo Woodlands of Malawi. *Forest Ecology and Management* 203: 345 360.
- Wass, P. (1995). *Kenya's indigenous forest*: Status, management and conservation. IUCN Gland Switzaland and Cambridge. UK. 205pp.
- Yang, L. J., Pan, J., Shao, Y., Chen, J. M., Jud, W. M., Shie, X. and Yuanf, S. (2006). Soil organic carbon decomposition and carbon pools in temperate and sub-tropical forests in china. *Journal of environmental management* 85: 690 695.
- Yang, Y., Fang, J., Ma, W., Smith, P., Mohammat, A., Wang, S. and Wang, W. (2010). Soil carbon stock and its changes in northern China's grasslands from 1980s to

2000s. [http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02123.x/abst ract] site visited on 27/9/2010.

- Yanda, P. (2008). Climate change and biodiversity conservation-Challenges and the way forward In: *Proceedings of 15^h Annual Scientific and 22nd General meeting*. (Edited by Malimbwi, R. E. and Zahabu, E). 6th 7th November, 2008. Morogoro, Tanzania. pp. 25-31.
- Zahabu, E. (2001). Impact of charcoal extraction to the miombo woodlands: The case of Kitulangalo Area, Tanzania. Dissertation for Award of MSc. Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania. 106pp.
- Zahabu, E. (2008). Sinks and sources: a strategy to involve forest communities in Tanzania in global climate policy. Dissertation for Award of PhD Degree at University of Twente, Netherlands. 241pp.
- Zahabu, E., Skutsch, M., Malimbwi, R. E. and Nordholt, S. G. N. (2008). The likely mechanism for implementating REDD policy in Tanzania. In: *Proceedings of 15^h Snnual Scientific and 22nd General meeting*. (Edited by Malimbwi R. E. and Zahabu, E). 6th – 7th November, 2008. Morogoro, Tanzania. pp. 32 - 40.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Sketch diagram of Sapling design in the Nilo Nature Reserve


S/n	Species botanical name	RF	RDo	RD	IVI	C (tha ⁻¹⁾
	•	6.0	11.6			
1	Sensypallum msolo	4 3.1	4	7.15	30.44	21.89
2	Newtonia buchananii	3 2.6	6.58	2.81	15.96	13.83
3	<i>Cylicomorpha</i> parviflora	8 4.2	6.15	2.95	15.25	13.63
4	Strombosia scheffleri	5 1.3	6.54	4.07	17.15	12.07
5	Albizia gummifera	4 1.3	4.60	0.84	10.04	11.24
6	Albizia zimmermannii	4 6.0	4.91	0.98	10.79	10.35
7	Tabarnaemontana usambarensis	4 0.2	5.97	8.56	20.50	9.49
8	Deinbollia kilimandischarica	2 7.1	0.01	0.28 13.7	0.30	7.96
9	Leptonychia usambarensis	6 1.1	2.59	4	18.92	7.60
10	Trichilia emetica	2 2.0	2.55	0.84	5.94	5.85
11	Polyscias fulva	1 0.6	2.28	2.38	6.94	4.86
12	Syzygium guinensis	7 0.2	2.05	0.42	4.53	4.60
13	Zanha golungensis	2 0.2	1.89	0.14	3.92	4.47
14	Malanthes genemias	2 2.0	1.86	0.14	3.85	4.38
15 16	Cephalosphaera usambarensis Isoberlinia scheffleri	1 1.5	2.65 1.43	3.23 1.82	8.54 4.68	4.32 4.31

Appendix 2: Importance Value Index and carbon storage for each tree species in Nilo Nature Reserve

		5.3				
17	Myrianthus holstii	7 2.4	2.79	3.79	9.37	4.07
18	Shirakiopsis elipticum	6 1.5	2.15	2.38	6.69	3.50
19	Lansianthus kilimandischaricus	7 1.3	0.14	1.26	1.54	3.05
20	Quassia undulata	4 0.4	1.74	1.12	4.61	2.95
21	Parinari excelsa	5	1.18	0.28	2.64	2.51

S/n	Species botanical name	RF	RDo	RD	IVI	C (tha ⁻¹⁾
		0.2				
22	Hoslundia opposita	2 1.1	0.02	0.28	0.32	2.38
23	Sensypallum cerasiferum	1 0.2	1.28	0.7	3.25	2.22
24	Margaritaria discoidea	2 2.2	0.11	0.28	0.50	1.97
25	Drypetes gerrardii	4 2.2	3.79	1.96	9.54	1.93
26	Chrysophyllum gorungosanum	4 3.5	1.21	1.68	4.10	1.90
27	Sorindeia madagascariensis	8 1.3	1.18	2.24	4.60	1.79
28	Ficus valis-chao-dae	4 0.8	0.55	1.12	2.22	1.41
29	Mesogyne insignis	9 0.2	0.63	1.40	2.66	1.30
30	Casearia batiscombei	2 0.4	0.67	0.14	1.48	1.29
31	Cola grenwayii	5	0.72	0.70	2.13	1.13
32	Cola scheffleri	0.4	0.61	0.28	1.50	1.09

33	Antiaris toxicaria	4 0.6	0.61	0.98	2.20	1.07
34	Cleistanthus polystachyus	7 0.8	0.65	0.84	2.14	1.02
35	Trilepsium madagascariensis	9 2.0	0.58	0.56	1.72	0.92
36	Allophyilus meliodorus	1 1.1	0.65	1.40	2.69	0.89
37	Ficus sur	2 0.6	0.29	1.26	1.85	0.76
38	Allanblackia stulhmanii	7 0.6	0.33	0.42	1.09	0.55
39	Barringtonia racemosa	7 1.5	0.38	0.42	1.18	0.53
40	Aulacocalyx toxit	7 0.2	0.46	0.14	1.05	0.53
41	Garcinia volkensii	2 1.3	0.00	0.14	0.15	0.46
42	Ficus exasperata	4 0.6	0.13	0.84	1.10	0.37
43	Celtis gomphophylla	7 0.6	0.20	0.56	0.96	0.24
44	Zenkerella egregia	7 4.9	0.17	0.70	1.05	0.19
45	Macaranga capensis	2	7.54	5.33	20.40	0.18

1.3

S/n	Species botanical name	RF	RDo	RD	IVI	C (tha ⁻¹⁾
	•	1.1				
46	Maesa lanceolata	2 1.1	0.12	1.26	1.51	0.15
47	Entandrophragma excelsum	2 0.2	1.12	0.70	2.94	0.15
48	Trema orientalis		0.10	0.14	0.35	0.14
49	Rothmannia manganjae	0.0 7 0.4	0.12	0.42	0.67	0.14
50	Khaya anthotheca		1.84	0.28	3.96	0.13
51	Croton macrostachyus,		0.09	0.14	0.33	0.12
52	Celtis africana		0.11	0.56	0.78	0.12
53	Xymalos monospora	9 1.1	0.11	0.56	0.79	0.12
54	Psychotria faucicola	2 0.2	0.12	1.12	1.37	0.11
55	Breonadia salicium	2 0.8	0.06	0.14	0.26	0.07
56	Cussonia spicata	9 0.6	0.07	0.70	0.85	0.06
57	Blighia unijugata	7 1.1	0.05	0.42	0.53	0.06
58	Alsodeiopsis schumannii	2 0.2	0.07	1.12	1.26	0.06
59	Milletia oblata	2 0.6	0.04	0.14	0.22	0.05
60	Rothmannia mepiliciformis	7 1.1	0.02	0.70	0.75	0.03
61	Harungana madagascariensis	2 0.4	0.34	0.70	1.39	0.01
62	Phyllanthus amarus	5 0.2	0.01	0.28	0.31	0.01
63	Chytranthus obliquineries	2 0.4	0.01	0.14	0.16	0.01
64	Calancoba welwitschii	5 0.2	0.01	0.28	0.30	0.01
65	Clerodendrum rotundifolium	2	0.01	0.14	0.15	0.01

		0.2				
66	Antidesma membranaceum	2 0.2	0.01	1.82	1.84	0.01
67	Cremaspora triflora	2 0.2	0.01	0.14	0.15	0.01
68	Milicia exelsa	2 0.2	0.01	0.14	0.15	0.00
69	Milletia dura	2 0.2	0.01	0.14	0.15	0.00
70	Cussonia arborea	2 0.2	0.01	0.14	0.15	0.00
71	Rytigynia schummanii	2 0.2	0.01	0.14	0.15	0.00
72	Tarrenna nigrescens	2 3.5	0.00	0.14	0.15	0.00
73	Funtumia africana	8 0.2	1.06	3.23	5.34	0.00
74	Vernonia colorata.	2 0.2	0.00	0.14	0.15	0.00
75	Oxyanthus speciosa	2 0.2	0.00	0.14	0.15	0.00
76	Garcinia buchananii	2 0.2	0.00	0.14	0.15	0.00
77	Rinorea ferruginea	2	0.00	0.14	0.15	0.00
	Total	100	100	100	300	184.61

Appendix 3: Dominant tree density in various blocks in the natural forests

Elevations	Dominant tree species	Wood density
1228-1504 m	Tabarnaemontana usambarensis	0.55
992-1228 m	Macaranga capensis	0.50
667 - 992 m	Sensypallum msolo	0.37
400-667 m	Cephalosphaera usambarensis	0.58
	The average density	0.50



Plot	Stand s	structure pa	rameter an	nd carbon	stock per p	olot	Carbon
No.	Species	Diversity	Mean	Stem	Basal	Volum	(tha ⁻¹)
	composition	(H')	diameter	density	area	e	
	per plot		per plot		(m²ha⁻¹)	(m³ha⁻	
						¹)	
1	5	2.49	46.67	250	2810.93	2810.93	1043.78
2	2	2.49	30.33	100	193.35	193.35	71.80
3	3	2.49	38.68	150	401.47	401.47	149.08
4	4	2.49	39.02	200	414.63	414.63	153.96
5	5	2.49	34.54	250	329.79	329.79	122.46
6	8	2.49	24.97	450	447.03	447.03	165.99
7	11	2.49	30.99	550	2087.31	2087.31	775.08
8	7	2.49	13.58	300	132.12	132.12	49.06
9	5	2.49	21.05	250	280.36	280.36	104.11
10	10	2.49	22.41	500	499.36	499.36	185.43
11	4	2.49	24.32	250	380.05	380.05	141.12
12	4	1.56	21.25	200	251.74	251.74	93.48
13	6	0.91	22.24	300	270.91	270.91	100.60
14	6	1.97	10.71	300	41.84	41.84	15.53
15	8	1.76	17.56	400	392.97	392.97	145.90
16	5	2.25	38.82	250	835.55	835.55	310.27
17	3	1.61	31.13	200	310.62	310.62	115.34
18	2	1.39	19.28	150	55.24	55.24	20.51
19	2	1.00	62.35	100	656.79	656.79	243.89
20	2	0.69	79.53	100	1231.36	1231.36	457.24
21	8	2.17	32.46	400	965.65	965.65	358.57
22	5	1.79	10.52	300	19.16	19.16	7.11
23	6	1.97	31.36	300	1453.41	1453.41	539.70
24	5	1.99	19.83	300	248.66	248.66	92.33
25	5	1.39	15.29	200	80.69	80.69	29.96
26	10	2.66	15.41	500	189.56	189.56	70.39
27	6	1.99	20.67	300	280.62	280.62	104.20
28	7	1.93	16.94	500	161.04	161.04	59.80

Appendix 4: Average diameter, species diversity, stem density, basal area, and volume and carbon stock per plot in Nilo Nature Reserve

Plot	Stand structure parameter and carbon stock per plot						Carbon
No.	Species	Diversity	Mean	Stem	Basal	Volum	(tha ⁻¹)
	composition	(H')	diameter	density	area	e	
	per plot	. ,	per plot		(m²ha⁻¹)	(m³ha⁻	
						¹)	
29	3	0.55	8.83	500	7.67	7.67	2.85
30	8	1.73	28.59	250	457.90	457.90	170.03
31	5	1.39	8.02	200	7.30	7.30	2.71
32	9	2.19	11.63	400	59.33	59.33	22.03
33	3	1.10	58.80	150	534.09	534.09	198.32
34	13	2.56	17.53	650	419.43	419.43	155.75
35	2	0.69	9.45	250	4.59	4.59	1.71
36	3	0.97	13.33	250	24.12	24.12	8.96
37	7	2.15	27.70	350	1141.08	1141.08	423.72
38	7	2.11	22.84	350	956.89	956.89	355.32
39	5	1.65	16.84	250	79.37	79.37	29.47
40	5	1.65	29.32	250	233.38	233.38	86.66
41	7	2.19	16.93	350	234.01	234.01	86.89
42	5	2.11	23.47	350	448.08	448.08	166.39
43	6	1.76	22.32	300	309.68	309.68	114.99
44	6	1.81	31.53	300	680.26	680.26	252.60
45	6	1.91	34.13	300	613.16	613.16	227.69
46	7	2.11	32.37	350	670.22	670.22	248.87
47	4	1.39	42.02	200	416.63	416.63	154.71
48	6	1.39	42.57	200	923.67	923.67	342.99
49	6	1.55	13.28	250	71 04	71 04	26.38
50	7	2.07	25.20	350	520.76	520.76	193.38
51	5	1 64	26.65	250	948 56	948 56	352.23
52	2	0.35	21.50	100	92.63	92.63	34 40
53	10	2.64	19.16	500	474 69	474 69	157 70
54	5	1 65	20.53	250	193.23	193.23	71 75
55	5	-1 04	58.08	100	863.89	863.89	320.79
56	5	1.04	34.61	250	807 30	807 30	20075
57	8	2.17	18.06	200 400	230.49	230 /0	85 50
58	6	2.17	10.50	300	1/18 30	1/12 20	55 10
50	0	1.00	15.51	500	140.55	140.55	55.10
Plot	Stand s	tructure pa	rameter an	d carbon	stock per r	olot	Carbon
No.	Species	Diversity	Mean	Stem	Basal	Volum	(tha ⁻¹)
1.00	composition	(H')	diameter	density	area	ρ	(unu)
	ner nlot	(11)	ner nlot	density	(m ² ha ⁻¹)	c (m³ha ⁻	
	per plot		per pioe		(m na)	(111 Ha ¹)	
59	7	2.11	26.04	350	648.84	648.84	240.94
60	4	1.39	37.63	200	750.71	750.71	278.76
61	9	2.47	20.33	450	365.74	365.74	135.81
62	8	2.25	33.25	400	720.62	720.62	267.59
63	4	1.04	24.38	200	356.65	356.65	58.16
64		1 70	28.90	250	268.80	268.80	174 09
65	5	1.70	17 80	250	171 28	171 28	63 60
66	5	1.50	53 13	200	2253 56	2253 56	836.81

67	6	1.93	35.73	300	1249.14	1249.14	463.84
68	5	1.83	24.49	300	321.12	321.12	119.24
69	5	1.79	11.23	300	29.31	29.31	10.88
70	3	0.91	18.20	150	105.59	105.59	39.21
71	5	2.07	21.16	350	319.56	319.56	118.66
72	4	0.06	19.36	200	328.05	328.05	121.82
73	6	1.83	13.84	300	101.06	101.06	37.53
74	4	1.26	26.50	200	238.50	238.50	88.56
75	9	2.60	26.66	500	749.75	749.75	278.41
76	10	2.75	25.19	500	756.37	756.37	280.86
77	7	1.43	25.55	350	882.95	882.95	327.86
78	7	1.64	12.99	350	122.98	122.98	45.67
79	6	1.86	19.07	300	118.71	118.71	44.08
80	9	2.34	16.97	400	265.02	265.02	98.41

(I)	(J)	Mean			95% Confidence Interval		
Elevation	Elevation	Differenc	Std.				
band	band	e (I-J)	Error	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
HE	MHE	10.70*	3.95	0.01	2.84	18.56	
	MLE	3.16	3.95	0.43	-4.70	11.02	
	LE	7.74	3.95	0.05	-0.13	15.60	
MHE	HE	-10.70*	3.95	0.01	-18.56	-2.84	
	MLE	-7.55	3.95	0.06	-15.41	0.31	
	LE	-2.97	3.95	0.45	-10.83	4.89	
MLE	HE	-3.16	3.95	0.43	-11.02	4.70	
	MHE	7.55	3.95	0.06	-0.31	15.41	
	LE	4.58	3.95	0.25	-3.28	12.44	
LD	HE	-7.74	3.95	0.05	-15.60	0.13	
	MHE	2.97	3.95	0.45	-4.89	10.83	
	MLE	-4.58	3.95	0.25	-12.44	3.28	

Appendix 5: Multiple comparisons for average diameter between elevation bands in Nilo Nature Reserve

*The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level

Appendix 6: Multiple comparisons for basal area between elevation bands in Nilo Nature Reserve

(I)	(J)	Mean			0E0/ Confid	onco Intomial
Elevation	Elevation	Difference	Std.		95% Comu	
band	band	(I-J)	Error	Sig.	Lower	Upper

					Bound	Bound
HE	MHE	540.10*	237.47	0.026	67.13	1013.0693
	MLE	265.05	237.47	0.268	-207.92	738.0193
	LE	474.60*	237.47	0.049	1.63	947.5693
MHE	HE	-540.10*	237.47	0.026	-1013.07	-67.1307
	MLE	-275.05	237.47	0.250	-748.02	197.9193
	LE	-65.50	237.47	0.783	-538.47	407.4693
MLE	HE	-265.05	237.47	0.268	-738.02	207.9193
	MHE	275.05	237.47	0.250	-197.92	748.0193
	LE	209.55	237.47	0.380	-263.42	682.5193
LE	HE	-474.60*	237.47	0.049	-947.57	-1.6307
	MHE	65.50	237.47	0.783	-407.47	538.4693
	MLE	-209.55	237.47	0.380	-682.52	263.4193

* The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level

Appendix 7: Multiple comparisons for volume between elevation bands in Nilo Nature Reserve

(I) Elevation band	(J) Elevation band	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig.	95% Confide	ence Interval
					Lower	Upper
					Bound	Bound
HE	MHE	685873.90*	322330.26	0.037	43897.54	1327850.26
	MLE	389508.59	322330.26	0.231	-252467.77	1031484.94
	LE	635664.52	322330.26	0.052	-6311.84	1277640.87
MHE	HE	685873.90*	322330.26	0.037	1327850.26	-43897.54
	MLE	296365.31	322330.26	0.361	-938341.67	345611.04

	LE	-50209.38	322330.26	0.877	-692185.74	591766.97
MLE	HE	-389508.59	322330.26	0.231	1031484.94	252467.77
	MHE	296365.31	322330.26	0.361	345611.04	938341.67
	LE	246155.93	322330.26	0.447	-395820.43	888132.29
LE	HE	-635664.52	322330.26	0.052	1277640.87	6311.84
	MHE	50209.38	322330.26	0.877	-591766.97	692185.74
	MLE	-246155.93	322330.26	0.447	-888132.29	395820.43
	11.00		0 0 1 1			

* The mean difference is significant at the0 .05 level

(I)	(J)	Mean			95% Confider	nce Interval
elevation	Elevation	Difference	Std.	-	Lower	Upper
band	band	(I-J)	Error	Sig.	Bound	Bound
HE	MHE	12.74*	5.98	0.037	0.81	24.65
	MLE	7.23	5.98	0.231	-4.69	19.15
	LE	11.80	5.98	0.052	-0.12	23.72
MHE	HE	-12.74*	5.98	0.037	-24.65	-0.82
	MLE	-5.50	5.98	0.361	-17.42	6.42
	LE	93	5.98	0.877	-12.85	10.99
MLE	HE	-7.23	5.98	0.231	-19.15	4.69
	MHE	5.50	5.98	0.361	-6.42	17.42
	LE	4.57	5.98	0.447	-7.35	16.49
LE	HE	-11.80	5.98	0.052	-23.72	0.1175
	MHE	.933	5.98	0.877	-10.99	12.85
	MLE	-4.57	5.98	0.447	-16.49	7.35

Appendix 8: Multiple comparisons for carbon stock between elevation bands in Nilo Nature Reserve

* The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

S/n	Species name	Family name	Growth form
1	Sorindeia madagascariensis	Anacardiaceae	Tree
2	Funtumia africana	Apocynaceae	Tree
3	Tabarnaemontana usambarensis	Apocynaceae	Tree
4	Croton macrostachyus,	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
5	Cussonia arborea	Araliaceae	Tree
6	Polyscias fulva	Araliaceae	Tree
7	Isoberlinia scheffleri	Caesalpiniaceae	Tree
8	Zenkerella egregia	Caesalpiniaceae	Tree
9	Cussonia spicata	Caricaceae	Tree
10	Myrianthus holstii	Cecropiaceae	Tree
11	Maranthes polyandra	Chrysobalanaceae	Tree
12	Parinari excelsa	Chrysobalanaceae	Tree
13	Garcinia buchananii	Clusiaceae	Tree
14	Garcinia volkensii	Clusiaceae	Tree
15	Harungana madascariensis	Clusiaceae	Tree
16	Allanblackia stulhmanii	Clusiaceae	Tree
17	Vernonia colorata.	Compositae/Asteraceae	Shrub
18	Antidesma membranaceum	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
19	Chytranthus obliquineries	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
20	Cremaspora triflora	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
21	Drypetes gerradii	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
22	Macaranga capensis	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
23	Margaritaria discoidea	Euphorbiaceae	Tree
24	Phyllanthus amarus	Euphorbiaceae	Shrub
25	Casearia batiscombei	Flacourtiaceae	Tree
26	Cola scheffleri	Flacourtiaceae	Tree
27	Shirakiopsis elipticum	Sterculiaceae	Tree
28	Alsodeiopsis schumannii	Icacinaceae	Tree
29	Hoslundia opposita	Lamiaceae	Shrub
30	Barringtonia racemosa	Lecythidaceae	Tree

Appendix 9: Tree species and their families found in Nilo Nature Reserve

S/n	Species name	Family name	Growth form
21	Enter dravbra en a avalaren	Maliagaaa	Tree
31	Entanarophragma exceisum	Mellaceae	Тисс
32	Knaya antnotneca	Mellaceae	1 ree
33		Mellaceae	Tree
34	Albizia gummifera	Mimosaceae	Tree
35	Albizia zimmermannii	Mimosaceae	Tree
36	Newtonia buchananii	Mimosaceae	Tree
37	Xymalos monospora	Monimiaceae	Tree
38	Antiaris toxicaria	Moraceae	Tree
39	Ficus exasperata	Moraceae	Tree
40	Ficus sur	Moraceae	Tree
41	Ficus valis-chao-dae	Moraceae	Tree
42	Milicia exelsa	Moraceae	Tree
43	Mesogyne insignis	Moraceae	Tree
44	Trilepsium madagascariensis	Moraceae	Tree
45	Cephalosphaera usambarensis	Myristicaceae	Tree
46	Maesa lanceolata	Myristicaceae	Tree
47	Syzygium guineense	Myrtaceae	Tree
48	Strombosia scheffleri	Olacaceae	Tree
49	 Milletia dura	Papilionaceae	Tree
50	Milletia oblata	Papilionaceae	Tree
51	Aulacocalyx t	Rubiaceae	Tree
52	Breonadia salicina	Rubiaceae	Tree
53	Calancoba welwitschii	Flacourtiaceae	Tree
54	Lansianthus kilimandischaricus	Rubiaceae	Tree
55	Psychotria faucicola	Rubiaceae	Tree
56	Rinorea ferruainea	Violaceae	Tree
57	Rothmannia manaaniae	Rubiaceae	Tree
58	Rothmannia mepiliciformis	Rubiaceae	Tree
59	Rvtiavnia schummanii	Rubiaceae	Tree
60	Tarrenna niarescens	Rubiaceae	Tree
61	Allophvilus meliodorus	Sanindaceae	Tree

S/n	Species name	Family name	Growth form
62	Blighia unijugata	Sapindaceae	Tree
63	Deinbollia kilimandischarica	Sapindaceae	Tree
64	Sensypallum cerasiferum	Sapindaceae	Tree
65	Zanha golungensis	Sapindaceae	Tree
66	Chrysophyllum gorungosanum	Sapotaceae	Tree
67	Cylicomorpha parviflora	Sapotaceae	Tree
68	Sensypallum msolo	Sapotaceae	Tree
69	Quassia undulata	Simaroubaceae	Tree
70	Clerodendrum rotundifolium	Lamiaceae	Shrub
71	Cola greenwayii	Sterculiaceae	Tree
72	Leptonychia usambarensis	Sterculiaceae	Tree
73	Celtis africana	Ulmaceae	Tree
74	Celtis gomphophylla	Ulmaceae	Tree
75	Trema orientalis	Ulmaceae	Tree
76	Oxyanthus speciosa	Rubiaceae	Tree
77	Cleistanthus polystachyus	Euphorbiaceae	Tree